
 

 Continued Over/: 

Issued on 11 July 2017 
 

The reports included in Part I of this agenda can be made 
available in alternative formats. For further information about 
this service, or to arrange for special facilities to be provided at 
the meeting, please contact DEBBIE SNOOK on 01622 
602030.To find out more about the work of the Council, please 
visit www.maidstone.gov.uk  

 

 
Alison Broom, Chief Executive, Maidstone Borough Council,  

Maidstone House, King Street, Maidstone, Kent ME15 6JQ 

 

 
 
You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of the 
 

MAIDSTONE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
Date: Wednesday 19 July 2017 

Time: 6.30 p.m. 

Venue: Town Hall, High Street, 

Maidstone 

 
Membership: 
 
Councillors  Adkinson, Barned, Mrs Blackmore, 

Boughton, Brice, D Burton, M Burton, 
Butler, Clark, Cox, Cuming, Daley, 
Ells, English, Fermor, Fissenden, Fort, 
Garland, Garten, Mrs Gooch, Greer 
(Mayor), Mrs Grigg, Harper, Harvey, 
Harwood, Hastie, Hemsley, 
Mrs Hinder, Joy, Lewins, McLoughlin, 
B Mortimer, D Mortimer, Munford, 
Naghi, Newton, Perry, Pickett, Powell, 
Prendergast, Mrs Ring, Mrs Robertson, 
Round, J Sams, T Sams, Spooner, 
Springett, Mrs Stockell, Vizzard, 
Webb, Webster, de Wiggondene, 
Wilby, Willis and Mrs Wilson 

 

 
 

 



 
 

 

AGENDA Page No. 

1. Prayers   

2. Apologies for Absence   

3. Dispensations (if any)   

4. Disclosures by Members and Officers   

5. Disclosures of Lobbying   

6. To consider whether any items should be taken in private 
because of the possible disclosure of exempt information.  

 

7. Minutes of the Annual Meeting of the Borough Council held on 
20 May 2017  

1 - 5 

8. Mayor's Announcements   

9. Petitions   

10. Question and Answer Session for Members of the Public   

11. Questions from Members of the Council to the Chairmen of 
Committees  

 

12. Current Issues - Report of the Leader of the Council, Response 
of the Group Leaders and Questions from Council Members  

 

13. Report of the Audit, Governance and Standards Committee held 
on 26 June 2017 - Audit, Governance and Standards Committee 
- Annual Report to Council 2016/17  

6 - 19 

14. Report of the Democracy Committee held on 3 July 2017 - 
Extension to the Appointment of the Independent Person  

20 - 21 

15. Oral Report of the Strategic Planning, Sustainability and 
Transportation Committee to be held on 11 July 2017 (if any)  

 

16. Oral Report of the Communities, Housing and Environment 
Committee to be held on 18 July 2017 (if any)  

 

17. Appointment of a Non-Voting Parish Councillor Representative 
to Serve on the Audit, Governance and Standards Committee  

 

 KALC Maidstone has nominated Councillor Peter Titchener 
(Chairman of Ulcombe Parish Council) to serve as a non-voting 
Parish Councillor Representative on the Audit, Governance and 
Standards Committee in place of Mrs Eileen Riden. 
 
It is suggested that the appointment be for the period until the 
Annual Meeting of the Council in 2020. 
  
 
 
 

 



 
 

 

 

PUBLIC SPEAKING 

In order to book a slot to speak at this meeting of the Council, please contact Debbie 
Snook on 01622 602030 or by email on debbiesnook@maidstone.gov.uk by 5.00 p.m. one 
clear working day before the meeting.  If asking a question, you will need to provide the 
full text in writing and specify the Councillor to whom it is to be put.  If making a 
statement, you will need to say which agenda item you wish to speak on.  Please note 
that slots will be allocated on a first come, first served basis. 

 
 

 



 1  

MAIDSTONE BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

MINUTES OF THE ANNUAL MEETING OF  

MAIDSTONE BOROUGH COUNCIL HELD AT THE TOWN HALL, 

HIGH STREET, MAIDSTONE ON 20 MAY 2017 
 
Present:  Councillor Butler (The Mayor) and 

Councillors Adkinson, Barned, Mrs Blackmore, 
Boughton, Brice, D Burton, M Burton, Clark, Cox, 
Cuming, Daley, English, Fermor, Fissenden, Fort, 
Garland, Garten, Mrs Gooch, Greer, Mrs Grigg, Harper, 
Harvey, Harwood, Hastie, Hemsley, Mrs Hinder,  
Mrs Joy, Lewins, McLoughlin, B Mortimer, D Mortimer, 
Munford, Naghi, Newton, Perry, Pickett, Powell, 
Prendergast, Mrs Ring, Mrs Robertson, Round,  
J Sams, T Sams, Spooner, Springett, Mrs Stockell, 
Vizzard, Webb, Webster, de Wiggondene, Wilby, 
Willis and Mrs Wilson  

 
 

1. PRAYERS  
 
Prayers were said by the Reverend Ian Parrish.  During the prayers, the 
Council observed a minute’s silence in memory of Mr Daniel Moriarty, a 
former Mayor of the Borough of Maidstone, and Mrs Christine Ash, a 
former Mayoress, both of whom had died recently. 
 

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
It was noted that apologies for absence had been received from Councillor 
Ells. 
 

3. DISPENSATIONS  
 
There were no applications for dispensations. 
 

4. DISCLOSURES BY MEMBERS AND OFFICERS  
 
There were no disclosures by Members or Officers. 
 

5. DISCLOSURES OF LOBBYING  
 
There were no disclosures of lobbying. 
 

6. ELECTION OF MAYOR FOR THE ENSUING MUNICIPAL YEAR  
 
It was moved by Councillor Garland, seconded by Councillor Daley, 
supported by Councillors Mrs Gooch, Barned and Harper, and  
 

Agenda Item 7

1



 2  

RESOLVED:  That Malcolm Frank Greer, a Councillor of the Borough, be 
duly elected Mayor of the Borough of Maidstone until the Annual Meeting 
of the Council in 2018. 
 
Councillor Greer then made the Statutory Declaration of Acceptance of 
Office which was duly witnessed in accordance with Section 83(3)(a) of 
the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
**THE MAYOR (COUNCILLOR GREER) IN THE CHAIR** 
 

7. CONGRATULATIONS TO THE MAYOR  
 
The Mayor received congratulations on his election from scholars 
representing schools as follows: 
 
Kristian Szwedziuk Maidstone Grammar School 
Steph Gunner Maidstone Grammar School for Girls 
 

8. THE RETIRING MAYOR  
 
It was moved by Councillor Mrs Blackmore, seconded by Councillor Naghi, 
supported by Councillors Mrs Gooch, Powell and Harper, and 
 
RESOLVED:  That the hearty thanks of this Council be given to Councillor 
Derek Butler and Mrs Mary Butler for the admirable discharge of their 
duties as Mayor and Mayoress during the past year, and for their 
courteous approach to all sections of the community. 
 

9. EXEMPT ITEMS  
 
RESOLVED:  That the items on the agenda be taken in public as 
proposed. 
 

10. MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE BOROUGH COUNCIL HELD ON 12 
APRIL 2017  
 
RESOLVED:  That the Minutes of the meeting of the Borough Council held 
on 12 April 2017 be approved as a correct record and signed. 
 

11. APPOINTMENT OF DEPUTY MAYOR FOR THE ENSUING MUNICIPAL YEAR  
 
It was moved by Councillor English, seconded by Councillor Butler, 
supported by Councillors Mrs Gooch, Newton and Adkinson, and 
 
RESOLVED:  That Councillor David Sandru Naghi be duly appointed 
Deputy Mayor for the Borough of Maidstone until the Annual Meeting of 
the Council in 2018. 
 

12. MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
The Mayor welcomed Councillor Denis Spooner to his first meeting of the 
Council following his success in the Bearsted Ward by-election. 

2



 3  

The Mayor and Councillors Mrs Gooch, Perry, Mrs Wilson, Powell and 
Harper then paid tribute, on behalf of their respective Political Groups, to 
Mr Daniel Moriarty and Mrs Christine Ash who had died recently. 
 
Councillor Brice took the opportunity to thank all those involved in the 
organisation of the Annual Meeting, the Civic and Freedom Parade and the 
Civic Service. 
 

13. ELECTION OF THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL FOR THE ENSUING 
MUNICIPAL YEAR  
 
It was moved by Councillor Cox, seconded by Councillor Harwood, that 
Councillor Mrs Wilson be elected as the Leader of the Council until the 
Annual Meeting of the Council in 2018. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Mrs Blackmore, seconded by Councillor 
Boughton, that Councillor Perry be elected as the Leader of the Council 
until the Annual Meeting of the Council in 2018. 
 
RESOLVED:  That Councillor Mrs Wilson be elected as the Leader of the 
Council until the Annual Meeting of the Council in 2018. 
 

14. APPOINTMENT OF THE DEPUTY LEADER OF THE COUNCIL FOR THE 
ENSUING MUNICIPAL YEAR  
 
It was moved by Councillor Mrs Joy, seconded by Councillor B Mortimer, 
that Councillor Mrs Gooch be appointed as the Deputy Leader of the 
Council until the Annual Meeting of the Council in 2018. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Powell, seconded by Councillor Garland, that 
Councillor Barned be appointed as the Deputy Leader of the Council until 
the Annual Meeting of the Council in 2018. 
 
RESOLVED:  That Councillor Mrs Gooch be appointed as the Deputy 
Leader of the Council until the Annual Meeting of the Council in 2018. 
 

15. REPORT OF THE HEAD OF POLICY AND COMMUNICATIONS - ALLOCATION 
OF SEATS ON COMMITTEES  
 
In accordance with Sections 15 and 16 of the Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989, the Council considered the allocation of seats to each 
Political Group in relation to its various Committees. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Mrs Wilson, seconded by Councillor Perry, that 
the allocation of seats on Committees be as set out in Appendix A to the 
report of the Head of Policy and Communications. 
 
RESOLVED:  That the allocation of seats on Committees be as set out in 
Appendix A to the report of the Head of Policy and Communications. 
 
 
 

3



 4  

16. APPOINTMENT OF COMMITTEES  
 
In accordance with Section 16 of the Local Government and Housing Act 
1989, the Council considered the appointments to its Committees and 
Substitutes. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Mrs Wilson, seconded by Councillor Perry, that 
the wishes of the Group Leaders with regard to the appointments to 
Committees and Substitutes be accepted. 
 
RESOLVED:  That the wishes of the Group Leaders with regard to the 
appointments to Committees and Substitutes be accepted. 
 

17. ADOPTION OF THE CONSTITUTION INCLUDING THE SCHEME OF 
DELEGATION AND RECENT UPDATES  
 
It was moved by Councillor Mrs Wilson, seconded by Councillor Perry, that 
the Constitution, including the Scheme of Delegation and recent updates, 
be adopted. 
 
RESOLVED:  That the Constitution, including the Scheme of Delegation 
and recent updates, be adopted. 
 
To view the Constitution adopted with effect from 20 May 2017, please 
follow the link below: 
 
http://www.maidstone.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0007/9538/Constitu
tion-11-May-2017.pdf 
 
MAIDSTONE BOROUGH COUNCIL ACTING AS CORPORATE TRUSTEE 
OF THE CHARITY KNOWN AS THE COBTREE MANOR ESTATE 
 

18. REPORT OF THE HEAD OF POLICY AND COMMUNICATIONS - ALLOCATION 
OF SEATS ON THE COBTREE MANOR ESTATE CHARITY COMMITTEE  
 
It was moved by Councillor Mrs Wilson, seconded by Councillor 
Perry, that the allocation of seats on the Cobtree Manor Estate Charity 
Committee be as follows:  
  
Conservative 2 
Liberal Democrats 2 
Independent 1 

 
RESOLVED:  That the allocation of seats on the Cobtree Manor Estate 
Charity Committee be as follows: 
 
Conservative 2 
Liberal Democrats 2 
Independent 1 

 
 
 

4



 5  

19. APPOINTMENT OF THE COBTREE MANOR ESTATE CHARITY COMMITTEE  
 
It was moved by Councillor Mrs Wilson, seconded by Councillor Perry, that 
the wishes of the Group Leaders with regard to the appointment of 
Members and Substitutes to serve on the Cobtree Manor Estate Charity 
Committee be accepted. 
 
RESOLVED:  That the wishes of the Group Leaders with regard to the 
appointment of Members and Substitutes to serve on the Cobtree Manor 
Estate Charity Committee be accepted. 
 
MAIDSTONE BOROUGH COUNCIL ACTING AS CORPORATE TRUSTEE 
OF THE QUEEN'S OWN ROYAL WEST KENT REGIMENT MUSEUM 
TRUST 
 

20. REPORT OF THE HEAD OF POLICY AND COMMUNICATIONS - ALLOCATION 
OF SEATS ON THE QUEEN'S OWN ROYAL WEST KENT REGIMENT MUSEUM 
TRUST COMMITTEE  
 
It was moved by Councillor Mrs Wilson, seconded by Councillor Perry, that 
the allocation of seats on the Queen’s Own Royal West Kent Regiment 
Museum Trust Committee be as follows: 
  
Conservative 2 
Liberal Democrats 2 
UKIP 1 

 
RESOLVED:  That the allocation of seats on the Queen’s Own Royal West 
Kent Regiment Museum Trust Committee be as follows: 
  
Conservative 2 
Liberal Democrats 2 
UKIP 1 

 
21. APPOINTMENT OF THE QUEEN'S OWN ROYAL WEST KENT REGIMENT 

MUSEUM TRUST COMMITTEE  
 
It was moved by Councillor Mrs Wilson, seconded by Councillor Perry, that 
the wishes of the Group Leaders with regard to the appointment of 
Members and Substitutes to serve on the Queen’s Own Royal West Kent 
Regiment Museum Trust Committee be accepted. 
 
RESOLVED:  That the wishes of the Group Leaders with regard to the 
appointment of Members and Substitutes to serve on the Queen’s Own 
Royal West Kent Regiment Museum Trust Committee be accepted. 
 

22. DURATION OF MEETING  
 
9.30 a.m. to 11.15 a.m. 
 
 

5



MAIDSTONE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

COUNCIL 
 

19 JULY 2017 
 

REPORT OF THE AUDIT, GOVERNANCE AND STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
HELD ON 26 JUNE 2017 

 
AUDIT, GOVERNANCE AND STANDARDS COMMITTEE – ANNUAL REPORT 
TO COUNCIL 2016/17 
 
Issue for Decision 
 
To note the Audit, Governance and Standards Committee Annual Report for 
2016/17. 
 
Recommendation Made   
 
That the Audit, Governance and Standards Committee Annual Report 2016/17, 
which demonstrates how the Committee discharged its duties during 2016/17, 
provides assurance that important internal control, governance and risk 
management issues are being monitored and addressed by the Committee and 
provides additional assurance to support the Annual Governance Statement, be 
noted. 
 
Reasons for Recommendation 
 
The Audit, Governance and Standards Committee, at its meeting held on 
26 June 2017, considered its Annual Report for 2016/17 (copy attached as 
Appendix A).  It was noted that: 
 
• The report represented a retrospective review of the activity of the 

Committee and reflected its terms of reference.  It provided assurance that 
important internal control, governance and risk management issues were 
being monitored and addressed by the Committee and provided additional 
assurance to support the Annual Governance Statement. 

 
• The report also included a refreshed programme of development briefings, to 

be delivered prior to each meeting of the Committee, designed to 
complement and provide insight into the types of issues that the Committee 
would be considering over the course of the year. 

 
The Committee agreed that the Audit, Governance and Standards Committee 
Annual Report for 2016/17 be approved for submission to the Council. 
 
The Committee also felt that the proposed programme of development briefings 
represented a comprehensive package to address Members’ needs, but asked 
the Officers to consider whether the proposed briefing on understanding local 
authority accounts could be brought forward. 
 
 

Agenda Item 13

6



Alternatives Considered and Why Not Recommended 
 
No alternative actions are considered appropriate as the report demonstrates 
how the Committee discharged its duties during 2016/17, provides assurance 
that important internal control, governance and risk management issues are 
being monitored and addressed by the Committee and provides additional 
assurance to support the Annual Governance Statement.   
 
Background Documents 
 
None 
 
 
 

 

 

 

7



Appendix A 

 

 

Audit, Governance & 

Standards Committee  

 

Annual Report  

2016/17 

 

 

8



1 

 

Introduction by Chairman of Audit, Governance and Standards 

Committee 

This report provides an overview of the Audit, Governance and Standards Committee’s 

activity during the municipal year 2016/17. 

I am pleased to report the continued good work of the Committee in providing an 

independent overview of the Council’s governance.  This role includes detailed consideration 

of the work of external and internal audit plus robust scrutiny and challenge of the Council’s 

financial performance and, through our Ethical Standards role, the approach the Council 

takes in investigating complaints made about Members. 

During 2016/17 the Committee met five times and was pleased to note, among the 

highlights, a further unqualified accounts and value for money opinion from our external 

auditors and a positive conclusion on the Council’s control and governance from our internal 

auditors. 

Once again during 2016/17 the Committee is grateful for the contributions of its members 

and parish members, as well as to those officers who support its work. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

 

 

   Councillor Steve McLoughlin  

Audit, Governance & Standards Committee Chairman (2016/17) 

 

 

9



2 

 

Introduction  

Maidstone Borough Council has always supported and understood the 

value and benefits of having an independent Audit Committee. The role of 

the committee was expanded in 2015 when the Council established the 

Audit, Governance and Standards (AGS) Committee. Its functions 

incorporate those undertaken by the former Audit Committee as well as 

some of the functions previously the responsibility of the Standards 

Committee.  

The AGS Committee is an essential check on the corporate governance 

framework, providing an independent and high-level overview of internal 

control, governance and risk management for the Council.  

The Committee monitors internal and external audit activity, reviews and 

comments on the effectiveness of the Council’s regulatory framework and 

reviews and approves the Council’s annual statements of accounts. 

The Committee is independent from the Council’s executive management 

and Service Committee functions and has clear reporting lines and rights 

of access to discharge its responsibilities in line with its Terms of 

Reference (Appendix I). This includes direct access to the Council’s 

Appointed Auditor and Head of Audit Partnership without the presence of 

other officers where appropriate. 

The Committee is not a substitute for the management function in 

relation to internal or external audit, risk management, governance, or 

any other review or assurance function. It is the Committee's role to 

examine these functions, and to offer views and recommendations on the 

way the management of these functions is conducted. 

Statement of 

Purpose 

 

The promotion and 

maintenance of high 

standards of Councillor 

and Officer conduct 

within the Council, 

adoption and reviewing 

the Council’s Annual 

Governance Statement; 

independent assurance 

of the adequacy of the 

financial and risk 

management 

framework and the 

associated control 

environment, 

independent review of 

the authority’s financial 

and non-financial 

performance to the 

extent that it affects 

the authority’s 

exposure to risk and 

weakens the control 

environment, and to 

oversee the financial 

reporting processing. 

Maidstone Borough 

Council Constitution 

10



3 

 

Membership 

The Audit, Governance and Standards Committee comprises of 11 members: 9 Borough 

Councillors and 2 Parish Councillors.  

Borough Councillors Parish Representatives 

Cllr McLoughlin (Chairman) 

Cllr English (Vice-Chairman) 

Cllr Daley 

Cllr Fissenden 

Cllr Garland 

Cllr Perry 

Cllr Revell (resigned March 2017) 

Cllr Vizzard 

Cllr Adkinson 

Parish Cllr Mrs Riden  

Parish Cllr Coulling 

 

Meetings & Attendance  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Audit, Governance & Standards Committee met five times in 2016/17: 

• 11
 
July 2016 

• 19 September 2016 

• 21 November 2016 

• 16 January 2017 

• 20 March 2017 

On all occasions the Committee was well attended and able to fulfil its duties.  

The Audit, Governance & Standards Committee is supported by senior officers 

of the Council who are regularly present at meetings, including: 

• Director of Finance & Business Improvement (Section 151)  

• Head/Deputy Head of Audit Partnership  

• Head of Policy, Communications and Governance 

• Deputy Head of Legal Services 

In addition, the Council’s External Auditors (Grant Thornton) attended each 

meeting of the Audit Committee during 2016/17.  

All of the Audit, Governance & Standards Committee agenda papers and 

minutes are available on the Council’s website. 

11



4 

 

Business  

During the year the Audit, Governance & Standards Committee has commented, examined 

and reviewed the following: 

Audit Activity 

• Internal Audit Annual Report & Opinion 

• Interim Internal Audit & Assurance Report 

• Internal Audit & Assurance Plan  

• Whistleblowing Policy 

External Audit (Grant Thornton) 

• Fee Letter 

• External Audit Update 

• Annual Audit Letter  

• Housing Benefit Grant Claim Certification 

• Audit Plan  

• External Audit Procurement 

Finance 

• Statement of Accounts  

• Treasury Management Annual Review  

• Treasury Management Half Yearly review 

• Treasury Management Strategy  

• Budget Strategy Risk Assessment  

Governance  

• Complaints received under the Members’ Code of Conduct 

• Annual Governance Statement & Local Code of Corporate Governance Review 

• Annual Governance Statement Action Plan  

• Audit, Governance & Standards Committee Annual Report 

• Work Programme  

The work of the Committee during 2016/17 has resulted in recommendations which have 

enhanced the operation of the Committee and wider Council functions.  In particular: 

- Discussion around the Annual Governance Statement ahead of its approval at Policy 

& Resources Committee 

- Amendments to the Whistleblowing Policy and endorsement of raising its profile 

- Requests for assurances over the adequacy of the Councils contract monitoring 

arrangements 

- Regular budget strategy risk updates reviewed and commented on by Members 

The business outlined above has been fulfilled in accordance with the Committees agreed 

Terms of Reference (detailed in Appendix I).  Furthermore the Committee has, where 

applicable to 2016/17, undertaken the functions outlined within the Terms.  

  

12



5 

 

Sources of Assurance 

In drawing a conclusion for the year, the Audit, Governance and Standards Committee 

gained assurance from the following sources: 

The work of Internal Audit (Mid Kent Audit) 

The Head of Audit Partnership issued an unqualified Head of Audit Opinion for 2015/16 

which concluded that the Council was operating an effective sound system of internal 

control, governance and risk management. Throughout the year the Committee has been 

kept up to date with delivery of the Internal Audit plan and implementation of audit 

recommendations. 

The Committee has been kept aware of emerging risks, and enhancements to the risk 

management process.  They have also been provided with a briefing on the risk 

management process during the year.  

The Internal Audit plan for 17/18 included a breakdown of internal audit assurance work for 

the coming year, and the Committee were given the opportunity to comment on the work 

of internal audit prior to endorsing the plan for delivery.  

Adverse audit opinions and progress against the implementation of audit recommendations 

have been presented to the Committee.  At Members’ request the Committee has been 

provided with regular updates on the implementation of audit recommendations.  

The Committee has continued to show its support to the Internal Audit team throughout 

the year, and has recognised the role, responsibility and authority of the service within the 

Audit Charter which was agreed by the Committee in March 2016.  

Whistleblowing 

The Council has agreed its Whistleblowing policy and has taken steps to improve the 

arrangements for reporting concerns.  

The work of External Audit (Grant Thornton) 

The external auditors report to the Audit, Governance & Standards Committee providing 

regular updates on their programme of work. During the year, the External Auditors 

presented an unqualified value for money conclusion and an unqualified opinion on the 

financial statements.  

The Committee has provided effective challenge to the External Auditors as appropriate and 

gained assurance from the reports and updates provided during the year.  

 

 

13



6 

 

Finance & Governance Reports   

The Committee provided robust challenge prior to approving the financial reports of the 

Council in September 2016.  

The Committee receives updates on the Councils Treasury Management activity and have 

provided robust challenge and comment to the overall Strategy and performance of 

investments.   

The Committee specifically gains assurance from the Annual Governance Statement which is 

a statutory document that explains the processes and procedures in place to enable the 

Council to carry out its functions effectively.  The statement is produced following a review 

of the Council's governance arrangements and includes actions address any significant 

governance issues identified. The Committee reviewed and approved the 2015/16 Annual 

Governance Statement.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

14



7 

 

Dealing with Complaints about Council Members  

The Localism Act 2011 obliges Councils to have both a Code of Conduct and a procedure for 

dealing with allegations that a member has breached that Code of Conduct. The Act further 

provides that the District/Borough Council for the area is responsible for dealing with 

complaints against all the Parish and Town Councillors for its area as well as dealing with 

complaints against Borough Councillors. Full Council, at its meeting on 5 July 2012, resolved 

to adopt the ‘Kent Procedures’ for dealing with Member Complaints. The ‘Kent Procedures’ 

are so called because they were devised by the Kent Monitoring Officer Group and have 

been adopted by Kent County Council and most of the Kent Districts/Boroughs. The concept 

of proportionality runs through the procedures such that the level of resource and decision 

on each complaint should be proportionate to the seriousness of the complaint. This very 

much represents the guidance from Central Government which has stressed Councils should 

not adopt ‘gold plated’ arrangements.  

Under the procedures, authority is delegated to the Monitoring Officer to make an initial 

assessment of the complaint (in consultation with the Independent Person appointed under 

the provisions of the Localism Act 2011) and, if appropriate, the Monitoring Officer will seek 

to resolve the complaint informally.  If it is decided the complaint should be investigated, 

then following that investigation a Sub-Committee of the Audit, Governance and Standards 

Committee will determine the complaint.  

The Localism Act 2011 sets out the role of the Independent Person in any procedures 

designed for investigating allegations that a member has breached the Code of Conduct. 

The Independent Person’s views must be sought and taken into account prior to a decision 

being made following an investigation into a complaint.  The Independent Person’s views 

may also be sought at other times during the process.  This Council’s Independent Person, 

Ms Barbara Varney, was appointed by Full Council in July 2013 following an interview 

process.   

During the year ending 31 March 2017, 12 new Member complaints were received.  9 of the 

complaints did not proceed because they did not satisfy either the legal jurisdiction test or 

the local assessment criteria set out in the Kent Procedures.  The investigations for the 

remaining 3 complaints were ceased part way through as the members in question resigned 

and it was not deemed in the public interest to continue.  3 of the complaints related to 

Borough Councillors.  The remaining 9 complaints related to parish councillors.   

 

 

 

 

15



8 

 

Member Development 

In September 2015 the Committee agreed a programme of development briefings to be 

conducted prior to each Committee meeting.  Members continue to show desire to 

continually develop their knowledge and skills.  

The training delivered in 2016/17 is outlined below:  

Briefing theme & topics Timing 

Assurance on value for money 

o How external audit assess VfM conclusion 

o Measuring value for money in local government 

o Data quality and performance measurement 

Delivered in March 2016 

Internal Audit Standards 

o How standards are set and monitored 

o Specific work on IA conformance 

Delivered in September 2016 

Risk Management 

o Risk appetite 

o Specific strategic and operational risks 

o Risk management strategy 

o Local government risk outlook 

Delivered in November 2016 

Treasury Management 

o Investment and borrowing options for local 

authorities 

o Prudential Code 

o Financial outlook for local authorities 

Delivered in January 2017 

Reviewing the Annual Governance Statement 

o The AGS within the Council’s governance 

o Specific topics within the AGS 

Delivered in March 2017 

Proposed Programme 2017/18 

The table below sets out the proposed programme of updates and briefings to be delivered 

in 2017/18:  

Briefing theme & potential specific topics Proposed timing 

Countering Fraud 

o Whistleblowing 

o Investigative practice 

o Fraud risks and the Councils response 

o Governance polices 

September 2017 

Commissioning, procurement and contracting 

o Risks in commissioning 

o Effective procurement processes 

January 2018 

Assurance across partnerships 

o Governance challenges in partnership working 

o Review on specific partnerships 

March 2018 

16



9 

 

Briefing theme & potential specific topics Proposed timing 

Understanding local authority accounts 

o General understanding of accounts 

o Specific update/annual issues 

o Comparative review of LG accounts 

June / July 2018 to align with 

approval of the accounts 

Standards/Code of Conduct 

o The Kent Code 

o Hearing practices 

o Case studies 

Not proposed for 2017/18 

Reviewing an audit plan 

o Member roles in relation to internal audit 

o Ensuring effective internal audit 

o Performance measures in audit 

Not proposed for 2017/18 

Internal Audit Standards 

o How standards are set and monitored 

o Specific work on IA conformance 

Not proposed for 2017/18; 

no external assessment 

required until 2020. 

Risk Management 

o Risk appetite 

o Specific strategic and operational risks 

o Risk management strategy 

o Local government risk outlook 

Flexible timing at any point in 

the 2018/19 year 

Role of internal and external audit 

o Differences in internal/external audit role 

o Assuring effective external audit 

o External auditor appointment 

Flexible timing at any point in 

the 2018/19 year 

 

Conclusion 

The Audit, Governance & Standards Committee, in partnership with the Council’s Internal 

and External Auditors, and with the support of Officers has provided robust and effective 

independent assurance to the Council on a wide range of risk, governance and internal 

control areas.  

The Audit, Governance & Standards Committee can demonstrate that it has appropriately 

and effectively fulfilled its duties during 2016/17. 

   

17



10 

 

Appendix I 

Terms of Reference & Responsibilities 

Audit Activity 

a) To consider the Head of Internal Audit Partnership’s annual report and opinion, and a summary of Internal Audit activity (actual and proposed) and 

the level of assurance it can give over the Council’s corporate governance arrangements.   

b) To consider reports dealing with the management and performance of Internal Audit Services, including consideration and endorsement of the 

Strategic Internal Audit Plan and any report on agreed recommendations not implemented within a reasonable timescale; and the Internal Audit 

Charter.  

c) To consider the External Auditor’s Annual Audit Letter, relevant reports, and any other report or recommendation to those charged with governance; 

and ensure that the Council has satisfactorily addressed all issues raised. To comment on the scope and depth of external audit work and to ensure it 

gives value for money.   

d) To review and approve the annual statement of accounts.  Specifically to consider whether appropriate accounting policies have been followed and 

whether there are concerns arising from the financial statements or from the audit that need to be brought to the attention of the Policy and 

Resources Committee or Council.  

e) Consider and review the effectiveness of the Treasury Management Strategy, Investment Strategy, Medium Term Financial Strategy, Annual Report 

and Mid-Year review and make recommendations to the Policy and Resources Committee and Council.   

f) Recommend and monitor the effectiveness of the Council's Counter-Fraud and Corruption Strategy. 

 

Governance 

a) To maintain a financial overview of the operation of Council’s Constitution in respect of contract procedure rules, financial regulations and codes of 

conduct and behaviour.  

b) In conjunction with Policy and Resources Committee to monitor the effective development and operation of risk management and corporate 

governance in the Council to ensure that strategically the risk management and corporate governance arrangements protect the Council.  

c) To monitor Council policies on ‘Raising Concerns at Work’ (Whistleblowing') and the ‘Anti-fraud and corruption’ strategy.   

d) To oversee the production of the authority’s Annual Governance Statement and to agree its adoption.  

e) The Council’s arrangements for corporate governance and agreeing necessary actions to ensure compliance with best practice and high standards of 

ethics and probity. This Committee will receive the annual review of the Local Code of Corporate Governance and may make recommendations to 

Policy and Resources Committee for proposed amendments, as necessary.   

f) To consider whether safeguards are in place to secure the Council’s compliance with its own and other published standards and controls. 

 

 

1
8



11 

 

Standards 

a) The promotion and maintenance of high standards of conduct within the Council.   

b) To advise the Council on the adoption or revision of its Codes of Conduct.   

c) To monitor and advise the Council about the operation of its Codes of Conduct in the light of best practice, and changes in the law, including in 

relation to gifts and hospitality and the declaration of interests. 

d) Assistance to Councillors, Parish Councillors and co-opted members of the authority to observe the Code of Conduct.   

e) To ensure that all Councillors have access to training in Governance, Audit and the Councillor Code of Conduct; that this training is actively promoted; 

and that Councillors are aware of the standards expected under the Councils Codes and Protocols.   

f) To deal with complaints that Councillors of the Borough Council and Parish Councils may have broken the Councillor Code of Conduct. 

g) Following a formal investigation and where the Monitoring Officer’s investigation concludes that there has been a breach of the Code of Conduct a 

hearing into the matter will be undertaken. See the procedure at 4.2 of the Constitution for dealing with complaints that a Councillor has breached the 

Code of Conduct.   

h) Advice on the effectiveness of the above procedures and any proposed changes.   

i) Grant of dispensations to Councillors with disclosable pecuniary interests and other significant interests, in accordance with the provisions of the 

Localism Act 2011. 

 

 

1
9



MAIDSTONE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

COUNCIL 
 

19 JULY 2017 
 

REPORT OF THE DEMOCRACY COMMITTEE HELD ON 3 JULY 2017 
 
 

EXTENSION TO THE APPOINTMENT OF THE INDEPENDENT PERSON 
 
 
Issue for Decision 
 
To agree that the term of office of Mrs Barbara Varney, the current Independent 
Person, be extended for a period of three years until 31 July 2020. 
 
Recommendation Made 
  
That the term of office of Mrs Barbara Varney, the current Independent Person, 
be extended for a period of three years until 31 July 2020. 
 
Reasons for Recommendation 
 
The Localism Act 2011 places a statutory duty on the Council to appoint an 
Independent Person who must be consulted before any decision is taken on an 
investigated complaint of misconduct by a Borough or Parish Councillor.  The 
Independent Person may be consulted on other issues and by a Member who is 
the subject of a complaint. 
 
Section 28 of the Localism Act 2011 sets out the requirements for the 
appointment of the Independent Person.  Anyone who has been a Member or 
Co-opted Member of the Authority within the last five years or is a relative or 
close friend of such a person is precluded from being appointed as the 
Independent Person.  There are no other restrictions to the appointment, 
including the length of such an appointment. 
 
Only one application was submitted when the appointment process was carried 
out in 2013, and the serving Independent Person at that time was precluded 
from applying as they had been a Co-opted Member of the Standards 
Committee. 
 
On 24 July 2013 Mrs Barbara Varney, the current Independent Person, was 
appointed by the Council following her successful application and interview by a 
panel of Members for the position. 
 
During the past four years Mrs Varney has been consulted on a number of Code 
of Conduct complaints and has continued to carry out the role to a high 
standard, consistently giving excellent support and advice. 
 
The current term of office expires on 31 July 2017, and the Council must appoint 
an Independent Person to meet its statutory obligation. 

Agenda Item 14

20



 
The Monitoring Officer and the current Independent Person have been consulted, 
and both are in agreement to the extension.  
 
Alternatives Considered and Why Not Recommended 
 
The extension of the term of office of the current Independent Person as 
proposed will ensure consistency in dealing with Code of Conduct complaints and 
will assist in maintaining high standards as the current Independent Person is 
experienced in dealing with such matters. 
 
The alternative course of action would be to advertise for a new Independent 
Person.  This is not recommended as it is unlikely that the Council will be able to 
make an appointment by 31 July 2017, resulting in the position being vacant.  
When the position was advertised in 2013, only one application was received and 
there are no guarantees that any application will be received or that the Council 
will be able to appoint someone with the same level of experience and expertise 
as the current Independent Person. 
 
Background Documents 
 
None 
 
 
 

 

 

 

21


	Agenda
	7 Minutes of the Annual Meeting of the Borough Council held on 20 May 2017
	13 Report of the Audit, Governance and Standards Committee held on 26 June 2017 - Audit, Governance and Standards Committee - Annual Report to Council 2016/17
	MBCAuditGovernanceStandardsCommitteeAnnualReport201617

	14 Report of the Democracy Committee held on 3 July 2017 - Extension to the Appointment of the Independent Person

